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CLAY, Circuit Judge. Plaintiff Enrigue Seoane-Vazquez appeals from the district
court’s grant of summary judgment in favor of Defendant The Ohio State University
(“University”) on Plaintiff’s claims of retaliation, in violation of Title VII of the Civil Rights Act
of 1964, 42 U.S.C. § 2000e et satye AFFIRM for the reasons set forth in this opinion and the
opinion of Chief Judge Batchelder.

BACKGROUND

FACTUAL BACKGROUND

A. Plaintiff’s Hiring, Complaints, and 2007 Lawsuit

In August 2002, Plaintiff, a native of Spain, was hired as an assistant professor in the
University’s College of Pharmacy(“COP”), serving in the Pharmacy Practice and
Administration Division {(Division”). Plaintiff also had a courtesy appointment to the College

of Public Health, which did not pay apygrtion of Plaintiff’s salary. Plaintiff’s position was on
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the tenure track. Whether Plaintiff would ultimately be awarded tenure depended on his
performance in three areascholarship, teaching, and service.

In 2004, as part of the service requiremddit, Milap Nahata, the Division’s chair,
appointed Plaintiff to serve on a search committee for a prestigious professorbkisearch
came to focus on Dr. Rajesh Balkrishnan, then a professor at the University of Texas at Houston.
Plaintiff wasconcerné about Balkrishnan’s relationship with his colleagues in Texas, and asked
Nahata to request letters of recommendation before appointing him. Nahata declined and
Balkrishnan was hiredAccording to Plaintiff, Nahata and Balkrishraiboth of Indian origin—
waged a vindictive campaign against him within the CRaintiff’s graduate students were
allegedly told to stop working with him. One student of Indian origin was told he should not be
working with Plaintiff, he should be working with Balkrishnan iste Nahata also tapped
Balkrishnan to present Plaintiff’s annual review to the Division’s faculty—a move that Plaintiff
claimed was designed to hinder his advancenmetite COP. Plaintiff further accused Nahata of
poaching a valuable grant.

In August 2005, Plaintiff filed a complaint detailing these and other offenses with the
Dean of the COP, Dr. Robert Brueggemeier, who forwarded the complaint to an investigative
committee. Following a lengthy process of investigation, report, and appeal, it was eventually
determined that relations were strained withinCOP’s faculty and corrective measures should
be taken. Balkrishnan was singled out for his behavior and barred from tampering with other
faculty members’ students. Not satisfied with these results, Plaintiff filed a Charge of
Discrimination with the EEOC in September 2006. The EEOC closed its file on the matter in

May 2007, and in August 2007, Plaintiff filed suit in the Southern District of Ohio, charging the
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University with three counts of Title VII discrimination, retaliation, and discrimination by
associatior{“2007 lawsuit).

B. Plaintiff’s Annual Reviews

Even as Plaintiff was participating in the dispute-resolution process at the University, he
was making fitful progress towards tenure. Plaiitifprogress was reviewed annually,
beginning in March 2004.In his first three reviews, Plaintiff was given high marks for his
service and mediocre marks on his teaching. Plaintiff also received meidipoer reviews
for his scholarship. Plaintiff, for his part, believed his reviews overlooked some scholastic
achievements, and also failed to account for a lengthy illness that hampered Plaintiff’s ability to
work.

In early 2007, the COPonducted Plaintiff’s fourth-year review, an important waypoint
on the road to tenureThe review encompassed several elements. First, the Division contacted
severalprofessors from other institutions with expertise in Plaintiff’s area of scholarship—
pharmaceutical economics and policy. Four replied with letters giving mixed reviews of
Plaintiff’s scholarship and ability to obtain research funding. Dr. William Hayton, an associate
dean in the COP, thgnepared a letter summarizing Plaintiff’s progress in teaching, scholarship,
and service. Hayton notetlat Plaintiff’s teaching quality needed improvement, even if the
quantity of Plaintiff’s teaching and advising was acceptable. Plaintiff’s service was appropriate
for a faculty member of his levelAs for Plaintiff’s scholarship, Hayton noted that Plaintiff had
only five articles to his name, and all had been completed receBRtiyntiff’s lack of peer-
reviewed articles had been a driver of his negative marks in previous annual reviews. Hayton

also stated that faculty members in the Division beliettedPlaintiff’s research lacked focus.
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Hayton further commenteghat Plaintiff’s funding had been adequate, but it was unclear if the
sources of funding were competitive.

After Hayton prepared his letter, the tenured faculty members of the COP met to discuss
Plaintiff’s progress. Dr. James Dalton, then the chair of thé®Rs tenure committee,
summarized this meeting in a letter to Brueggemeier dated March 14, 087 of the meeting
focused on Plaintiff’s research. As Dalton summarized, the faculty had a mixed response to
Plaintiff’s research, and thought that Plaintiff should increase the number of his peer-reviewed
publications, focus his scholarship into a defined area, and gain funding from competitive
sources. The faculty voted just 12 to 8 in favor of a positive fourth-year review.

Finally, Brueggemeier submitted his own recommendation to the University provost.
Brueggemeier favored giving Plaintiff a positive fourth-year review, with clear expectations of
improvements to be made if Plaintiff hoped to secure tenure. Brueggemeier repeated the concern
about Plaintiff’s late flurry of publications and the lack of focus in his work, and noted that the
guality of the journals that carried his articles was low or uncer@imilarly, it was not clear if
Plaintiff’s funding sources had a competitive application process. Brueggemeier concluded his
letter with severakxpectations for Plaintiff’s future research and scholarship: more peer-
reviewed publications on a more regular schedule; developing a theme or focus that unites his
work; and securing research funding from federal agencies with peer-reviewed application
processes.

C. The Tenure Review Process

In the summer of 2008, preparations began for the tenure review pradesailtimate
decision of whether to grant or deny tenure lay with the University’s provost, Joseph Alutto.

According to University policy, Alutto would make this decision based on a dossier of materials
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that would be assembled over the course of several months by Plaintiff and the COP. This
dossier should include, among other thingsymmary of the applicant’s research prepared by
the applicant himself; representative publications that the applicant had written while at the
University; letters from external reviewers; and the recommendation oblikgets faculty as to
whether or not tenure should be awarded.
1. External reviewers

In August 2008,Nahata, as the chair of Plaintiff’s Division, contacted Plaintiff to
assemble a list of possible external reviewers. Although University procedures permitted
Plaintiff to suggest names, Plaintiff declined. Moreover, Plaintiff told Nahata that the
discriminatory and retaliatory conduct of Nahata and others made an unbiased tenure review
process impossible.Nahata would ordinarily play an important role in preparing Plaintiff’s
dossier, but given Plaintiff’s allegations, Nahata recused himself from the process. Dr. Robert
Buerki, a tenured professor in the Division and a member of the COP’s tenure committee, took
over Nahata’s responsibilities. Buerki assembled a group of professors in the Division to come
up with a list of external reviewers. Nahata attended the meeting of these professors, but did not
offer any suggestions. The meeting ended with a list of fifteen professors who werdoasked
provide letters of review. Only five responded initially, and their reviews were mixed.

Daniel Mullins of the University of Maryland, who had previously worked with Plaintiff,
spoke positively about Plaintiff’s scholarship. Plaintiff had a good balance of work, a reasonable
number of publications, and Mullins forecasted that Plaintiff’s rate and quality of scholarship
would increase in the future. Mullins noted that Plaintiff had fewer and smaller funding grants
than his peers, but chalked this up to Plaintiff’s lack of experience in applying for funding, and

possibly to his not needing as much funding as others in his field. Marvin Shepherd from the
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University of Texas also had positive things to say. According to him, Plaintiff had produced
exceptional research on limited fundindgdoth Mullins and Shepherd recommended granting
Plaintiff tenure.

John Brooks from the University of lowa had a more mmedsresponse to Plaintiff’s
work. Brooks observed that Plaintiff had published several papers recently, suggesting more to
come in the near future. But Brooks commented that Plaintiff’s research lacked a compelling
theme. Even Plaintiff’s own description of his research interests could not weaselisparate
topics into a single thematic arc. Brooks also believed that Plaintiff had produced too many
unpublished reports compared to published peer-reviewed papers. Brooks concluded that
Plaintiff’s work compared favorably to his peers, but could benefit from focus.

Two of the reviewers had distinctly negative opinions about Plaindiflel Hay of the
University of Southern California commended Plaintiff for the number of peer-reviewed
publications he had produced, but found their content to be lacking. The articles Hay had
received were descriptive, not analytical, and therefore failed to show any expertise or
innovation in Plaintiff’s self-proclaimed area of researcBavid Kreling from the University of
Wisconsin—one of the professors who had provided a letter for Plaintiff’s fourth-year review—
was even more negative. Plaintiff had no main focus to his work, and had not published in the
journals most associated with his fieldThe articles were not innovative or creative, and
scatered over too wide of an area. In sum, Plaintiff’s body of scholarship was mediocre at
best—possibly below par compared to his peers.

Once these five letters had been received, Buerki wrote a letter to Dr. Anthony Young,
chair of the COP’s tenure committee. Buerki principally summarized the external reviewers’

letters, but also briefly noted Plaintiff’s record of teaching, scholarship, and service. In addition,
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several faculty members had discussed Plaintiff’s dossier, and noted that Plaintiff had not made
substantial progress in meeting the expectations set forth in Brueggemeier’s fourth-year review
letter. Buerki’s letter included a sentence or two containing these thoughts. Nahata cosigned
Buerki’s letter, as the cfir of Plaintiff’s Division, but did not contribute to its substance.

After Buerki had completed his letter, he received two more letters from external
reviewers. Abraham Hartzema of the University of Florida wrote positively about the number of
publicaions, and believed Plaintiff’s papers were clearly focused and of high quality. Hartzema
also noted that few sources of funding were available in Plaintiff’s area of expertise. Overall,
Hartzema believed that Plaintiff had developed his own brand, been productive, and had
produced important work.Caroline Gaither, of the University of Michigan, also had some
positive things to say. Gaither believed that Plaintiff had produced a sufficient number of papers
and that his area of research was valuable. However, Gaither found the quality of the work
somewhat wanting. She noted tR&tintiff’s papers were largely descriptive, but observed that
Plaintiff had used a variety of methods in these papers. In the end, Gaither thought that Plaintiff
compared favorably to his peers, and suggested that he select a few areas in which he could focus
his research.

2. COP faculty vote

With all of these materials in hand, the COP scheduled a tenure meeting and vote for
December 1, 2008. In early November, Buerki, whe tw present Plaintiff’s application at the
meeting, spoke with Plaintiff about his dossidBuerki shared the letter he had written about
Plaintiff’s dossier. Plaintiff did not react positively. On November 24, 2008, he filed a motion
in the 2007 lawsuit to enjoin the tenure meeting. The district court denied the motion two days

later. Plaintiff then wrote a letter to Buerki dated November 29, 2008, detailing several errors
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and omissions Plaintiff sa Buerki’s letter. Plaintiff asked Buerki to distribute his letter at the
tenure meeting. Buerki agreed to do so.

On December 1, 2008 e COP faculty met to consider Plaintiff’s application for tenure.
But before the faculty addressed the merits of Plaintiff’s dossier, there was a lengthy discussion
about the propriety of circulating the letter from Plaintiff (we know because the meeting was
recorded). Some faculty members were concerned that their vote would be based on less than a
full picture of Plaintiff’s dossier if the letter were not handed ouSeveral faculty members
opposed having the letter distributed the ground that the University’s procedures allowed
Plaintiff to submit a rebuttal after the COP vote. Once two faculty members threatened to walk
out of the meeting, the discussimioved on without Plaintiff’s letter being circulated.

The substantive portion of the faculty’s discussion focused on Plaintiff’s publication
history, funding, and the comments from the external review@ifse opinions were mixed.
Some faculty members bieted that Plaintiff’s funding record and publication were adequate,
and that the balance of the external reviews was positive. But several faculty members felt
strongly that Plaintiff’s record was not up to snuff. One professor, Bob Curley, called the
external letters “the least favorable I’ve ever seen for any candidate at any level Siheehad
been at the COP. (R. 76-19, Tenure Comm. Tr., at 10,71056.Jessie Au commented that the
most important metric was peer-reviewed publications, and that Plaintiff had more than enough
to warrant tenure.The faculty’s conversation thus mirrored the disparate opinions contained in
the letters from external reviewersanging from positive to very negative.

Balkrishnan and Nahata made their own contributions to the meeting, chastising Plaintiff
for his poor relations with them and other faculty in the COP. Balkrishnan started the meeting

by asking if the faculty could face legal liability for their comments. Brueggemeier told
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Balkrishnan that so long as his comments stuck to the facts, the University would offer
indemnification. Perhaps buoyed by this assurance, Balkrishnan proceeded to air the allegations
that Plaintiff had made against him. Balkrishnan thought his colleagues should consider
Plaintiff’s internal complaints and EEOC claim when deciding if tenure was warranted. Au
objected to Balkrishnan’s characterization of Plaintiff’s complaints as meritless. Later, Nahata
vehemently deniefllaintiff’s allegation that Nahata had misappropriated a grant.

At the end of the meeting, the faculty voted on Plaintiff’s tenure application. Seven
voted in favor of granting tenure, ten voted against Plaintiff, and four abstained.

3. Letters from Young and Brueggemeier

On December 9, 2008, Young sent a letter to Brueggemeier summarizing the vote and
discussion that had takeiace during the faculty’s meeting. Young noted that the discussion
was positive concerning Plaintiff’s teaching and service, but that many faculty members had
serious concerns about Plaintiff’s scholarship.  Young briefly summarized the major
complaints—lack of focus, principally descriptive papers, and inadequate funding also
stated that these concerns were not unanimously h&dung’s letter also acknowledged
Plaintiff’s allegations of impropriety by some faculty members and the mixed result of the
investigative committee.

Next, Brueggemeier composed a letter to Alutto dated December 17, 2008. Brueggemeier
explained that Plaintiff’s scholarship as a whole lacked focus, and that Plaintiff’s recent spate of
publications was unexpected and worrying. As for funding, Brueggemeier expressed concern
that Plaintiff’s funding sources were not competitive or peer-reviewed. Brueggemeier thus
recommended that Alutto deny tenure, in line with the faculty vote, principally based on the

concerns about Plaintiff’s scholarship.
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4. Plainiff’s complaints and Alutto’s final decision

Plaintiff did not take these setbacks lying down. On January 5, 2009, Plaintiff submitted
a rebuttal letter (which, with exhibits, stretched to over 150 pages) for inclusion in his dossier.
Plaintiff raised eight areas of concern. He claimed that Balkrishnan, aided and abetted by Nahata
and Brueggemeier, had used the 2007 lawsuit as a basis for recommending denial of tenure.
Nahata and Brueggemeier had allegedly poisoned the tenure process in other ways. Plaintiff
claimed that Nahata had selected biased external reviewegzarticular, Kreling and Gaither.
The alleged bias of these two reviewers stemmed from their relationship with Dr. Craig
Pedersen, a COP professor who left the University at the end of 2008. Plaintiff asserted that
Pedersen had spreade comments about Plaintiff throughout Plaintiff’s professional network,
including with Kreling. Plaintiff also claimed that Nahata’s letter (the one that had actually been
written by Buerki) painted Plaintiff in a false light, and in any event, it was inappropriate for
Nahata to allow Buerki to write it. As for Brueggemeier, Plaintiff asserted that he had
inappropriately prevented the COP faculty from seeing the letter Plaintiff wrote prior to the
tenure vote. Brueggemeier had also misrepresented the facts in his letter and set unreasonable
expectations in his fourth-year review of PlaintiffYoung’s letter summarizing the faculty
meeting was also slanted against Plaintiff. In addition, Plaintiff complained that his dossier did
not include a letter from the College of Public Health, Plaintiff’s scholarly collaborators, or a full
list of Plaintiff’s publications. Plaintiff asked Alutto to restart the tenure process and bar
Balkrishnan, Nahata, and Brueggemeier from participating.

After Plaintiff’s rebuttal letter was included in the dossier, the entire package was
forwarded to Provost Alutto. But since the COP vote had been negative, Alutto referred the

dossier to the University Promeii and Tenure Committee (“UPTC”) for its review. This body

-10-
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of seven faculty members from across the University was headed by Dr. Carole Anderson, Dea
of the College of Dentistry.The UPTC members reviewed Plaintiff’s dossier and reached the
same conclusion as the majority of the CORculty and BrueggemeierPlaintiff’s research
record was too weak to recommend tenure. Five of the UPTC members voted to strongly
recommend disapproval of tenure. Two members voted to weakly recommend disapproval. The
UPTC also responded to the numerous allegations raised in Plaintiff’s rebuttal letter and found
that Plaintiff’s claims either lacked merit or had no real impact on the tenure process. Anderson
noted, however, that the UPTC did not have the resources to investigate these matters fully.
Finally, the decision of whether to award or deny tenure came before AlAtiatto
reviewed Anderson’s report and all of the letters in the dossier, but did not read Plaintiff’s
publications. On April 8, 2009, Alutto denied Plaintiff tenure.
D. Plaintiff’s Internal Appeal
After hearing of Alutto’s decision, Plaintiff filed a complaint with the University Senate
Committee on Academic Freedom and Resjihs (“CAFR”), which was chaired by Dr.
Marilyn Blackwell Plaintiff’s complaint essentially rehashed the allegations in his January 5,
2009 rebuttal letter. Pursuant to the University’s policies, the CAFR had 60 days to investigate
Plaintiff’s appeal. Blackwell and the CAFR interviewed Plaintiff and received comments from
Brueggemeier, Buerki, Nahata, and YounBlackwell summarized the CAFR’s findings in a
letter dated June 28, 2009. The CAFR beliettad five aspects of Plaintiff’s tenure process
violated the University’s rules. The CAFR concluded that there was some reason to think that
Kreling and Gaither were not in a position to provide unbiased external reviews, that the COP
should have furnished Plaintiff with the list of proposed external reviewers before they were

contacted for letters, that Nahata should have found someone other than Buerki to assist him in

-11-
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writing his letter, and that the College of Public Health should have supplied Plaintiff with a
letter of evaluation. CAFR foundd?htiff’s other claims without merit.

CAFR passed Plaintiff’s appeal on to the Faculty Hearing Committee (“FHC”), the final
level of appeal available within the Universitithe FHC convened a panel to hear Plaintiff’s
claims, and the panel met six times between August and October Zamtiff apparently
believed he could not maintain his internal appeal at the same time as the 2007 lawsuit, which
was scheduled to go to trial in April 2010. On October 9, 2009, Plaintiff moved to voluntarily
dismiss the 2007 lawsuit. A week later, the district court granted the order and dismissed
Plaintiff’s case without prejudice. On October 23, 2009he FHC found that none of Plaintiff’s
claims had merit. The FHC did despair at the breakdown in collegiality at the COP, and
recommended that the University develop rules to account for future such situaBoms.
Plaintiff’s appeal was rejected.
. PROCEDURAL HISTORY

Once he had heard the final result of his internal appeal, Plaintiff returned to the EEOC.
On November 2, 2009, Plaintiff completed an EEOC intake questionnaire, highlighting alleged
instances of retaliation during the tenure review process. On February 6, 2010, Plaintiff filed a
charge of discrimination with the EEOC, alleging thht FHC’s decision was made in
retaliation for Plaintiff’s protected activity. The EEOC notified Plaintiff of his right to sue on
these claims in June 2010.

A month later, Plaintiff filed this suit in the Southern District of Ohio. Plaintiff
reasserted the claims from the 2007 lawsuit, plus Title VII retaliation claims arising from his
denial of tenure and the denial of his internal app&dle University moved to dismissThe

district court held thaPlaintiff’s claims arising from any event prior to January 6, 2009 were

-12-
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time-barred and not subject to equitable tolling. Seoane-Vazquez v. Ohio State Univ. ($eoane |
No. 10CV-622, 2011 WL 249473 (S.D. Ohio Jan. 25, 2011Ijhis left only Plaintiff’s
retaliation claims based on Alutto’s denial of tenure and the FHC’s denial of Plaintiff’s internal
appeal. After extensive discovery, the district court granted summary judgment on these final
claims and reaffirmed its earlier decision concerning equitable tolling. Seoane-Vazquez v. Ohio
State Univ. (Seoane Il), No. X0V-622, 2012 WL 6138661 (S.D. Ohio Dec. 11, 2012). This
appeal followed.
DISCUSSION

Title VII makes it unlawful for an employer to retaliate against an employee bebause
employee has engaged in conduct protected by Title VII. See 42 U.S.C. § 2000ekai)tf
asserts that his tenure review process was rife with retaliation for his protected-adtitgtyal
complaints and the 2007 lawsuit. The district ecadjected Plaintiff’s claims and granted
summary judgment to Defendant on three grounds. First, the court held that Plaintiff could not
sue for many of the alleged acts of retaliation because those claims were time-barred and
Plaintiff could not benefit from equitable tolling. Second, the court determined that Provost
Alutto did not act with retaliatory animus when tiéimately denied Plaintiff’s application for
tenure. And third, the court held that Plaintiff’s internal appeal of Alutto’s decision was not a
legally cognizable act of retaliationPlaintiff asserts that all three of these conclusions were

wrong. We address each in tdrn.

'Because we agree that equitable tolling does not apply and that Alutto’s decision to deny
tenure was not retaliatory, we need not addries$&/hiversity’s other ground for affirmance on
these claims-that they were not within the scope of Plaintiff’s EEOC intake questionnaire or
charge of discrimination.

-13-
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EQUITABLE TOLLING

Before Plaintiff could initiate a Title VII suit in district court, he was required to file a
charge of discrimination “within three hundred days after the alleged unlawful employment
practice occurred 42 U.S.C. § 2000e-5(e)(1). Once the EEOC decided not to pursue the claim,
Plaintiff had ninety days to bring suit. See 42 U.S.C. § 2000e-5(fAbplying these timing
rules, the district court concluded that Plaintiff could not sue for any acts of discrimination or
retaliation that happened before January 6, 2009. See Seoane I, 2011 WL 249473, at *3; Seoane
I, 2012 WL 6138661, at *9. This cut-off barred the claims based on national-origin
discrimination originally asserted in the 2007 lawsuit, as well as any acts of retaliation prior to
Alutto’s final decision on Plaintiff’s tenure application.

Plaintiff does not argue against this conclusion. Instead, Plaintiff asserts that the court
should have equitably tolled his pre-2009 claini€quitable tolling [] permits a plaintiff to
avoid the bar of the statute of limitations if despite all due diligence he is unable to obtain vital
information bearing on the existence of his claim.” E.E.O.C. v. KyState Police Dep't, 80 F.3d
1086, 1095 (6th Cir. 1996) (quotation marks omitteéd)/e consider five factors in determining
whether equitable tolling should be allowed: 1) lack of notice of the filing requirement; 2) lack
of constructive knowledge of the filing requirenaed) diligence in pursuing one’s rights; 4)
absence of prejudice to tdefendant; and 5) the plaintiff’s reasonableness in remaining ignorant
of the particular legal requirement.Seay v. Tenn. Valley Auth., 339 F.3d 454, 469 (6th Cir.
2003) (quotation marks and alteration omitted). Since the district court denied equitable tolling

as a matter of law, we review this decision de novo. See id.

-14-
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2 Plaintiff baldly asserts

Plaintiff’s theory supporting equitable tolling is hard to discern.
that the University delayed its resolution of Plaintiff’s internal appeal in 2009, which somehow
caused Plaintiff to delay filing a notice of claim with the EE&®@ voluntarily dismiss the 2007
lawsuit. Even if true, these circumstances do not entitle Plaintiff to equitable tolling. Plaintiff
had all the information necessary to file a timely charge with the EEOC. Contra Dixon v.
Gonzales, 481 F.3d 324, 332 (6th Cir. 20@8ay, 339 F.3d at 4690. Plaintiff does not allege
that the EEOC committed some error that rendered his claims untimely. Contra Brown v.
Crowe, 963 F.2d 895, 89800 (6th Cir. 1992). Plaintiff selected his course of action when
faced with the competing demands of his ongoing litigation and his application for tenure.
Equitable tolling is not designed to save litigants from the foreseeable consequences of their own
strategic choices.Plaintiff’s claims arising out of pre-2009 conduct are therefore time-barred

and were properly dismissed.

I. TITLE VIl RETALIATION: ALUTTO’S DENIAL OF PLAINTIFF’S APPLICATION FOR
TENURE

Next, Plaintiff argues that summary judgment should not have been granted on his claim
that Provost Aluttalenied Plaintiff tenure because of Plaintiff’s protected conduct. We reviewa
district court’s grant of summary judgment de novo. See ShazBrof’l Transit Mgmt., 744
F.3d 948, 955 (6th Cir. 20148ummary judgment is appropriate “if the movant shows that there
is no genuine dispute as to any material fact and the movant is entitled to judgment as a matter of
law.” Fed. R. Civ. P. 56(a). “In reviewing the district court’s grant of summary judgment, this

Court must view all the facts and the inferences drawn therefrom in the light most favorable to

’Plaintiff attempts to make a portion of his argument by citing the briefs he filee in th
district court. We have expressly prohibited this type of advocacy. See Northland Ins. Co.
Stewart Title Guar. Co., 327 F.3d 448, 452 (6th Cir. 2003).

-15-
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the nonmoving party.” Birch v. Cuyahoga County Probate Court, 392 F.3d 151, 157 (6th Cir.
2004).

A. Cat’s Paw Liability and But-For Causation

Plaintiff does not argue that Alutto was personally motivated by retaliatory animus when
he rejected Plaintiff’s application for tenure. Rather, Plaintiff asserts that Alutto was the
unwitting tool of those who did harbogtaliatory animus—in other words, Plaintiff advances a
cat’s paw theory. The Supreme Court has recently defined thialdat “cat’s paw liability” as
follows: “if a supervisor performs an act motivated by [discriminatory] animus that is intended
by the supervisor to cause an adverse employment action, and if that act is a proximaié cause
the ultimate employment action, then the employer is liablStaub v. Proctor Hosp., 131 S.
Ct. 1186, 1194 (2011) (footnote omitted).

The statute at issue in Staub requitkat the discriminatory action be a “motivating
factor” in the resulting adverse employment action. See id. at 119@1. We have thus directly
applied Staub in Title VII discrimination actions, which are governed by a similar causation
standard. See Chattman v. Toho Tenax Am., Inc., 686 F.3d 339, 351 (6th Cir. BQd@uring
the pendency of this appeal, the Supreme Court established that Title VII retaliation claims
require but-for causation; that igroof that the unlawful retaliation would not have occurred in
the absence of the alleged wrongful action or actions of the employer.” Univ. of Tex. Sw. Med.
Ctr. v. Nassar, 133 S. Ct. 2517, 2533 (201B)e heightened standard of causation in Title VII

retaliation claims forces us to tailor the Staub rule to fit in this context, but the required alteration

3Since we hold that Plaintiff cannot establish cat’s paw liability, we need not consider
whether and to what extent cat’s paw liability fits into the framework of McDonnell Douglas
Corp. v. Green, 411 U.S. 792 (1973). See Diaz v. Tyson Fresh Meats, Inc., 643 F.3d 1149, 1151
(8th Cir. 2011) (discussing, but not resolving, the “uneasy marriage” between Staub and
McDonnell Douglak

-16-
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is straight-forward. If the retaliatory actions of nondecisionm&kegese nothing more thaa
motivating factor of Alutto’s decision, then retaliation could not have been a but-for cause of the
ultimate employment action. Therefore, we hold daalts paw liability will lie in this case if:
(1) nondecisionmakers took actions intended to deny Plaintiff tenure in retaliation for his
protected conduct, and (2) those retaliatory actions were a but-for @addeto’s decision to
deny tenuré. This is the same standard courts have announced when applying Staub to claims
for age discrimination-claims that require the plaintiff to establish but-for causatiore SBas
v. MW, Inc., 704 F.3d 1327, 1336 (11th Cir. 2018)mmons v. Sykes Enters., Inc., 647 F.3d
943, 94950 (10th Cir. 2011).

The but-forstandard has an important impact in “overdetermined” cases—cases where
“two forces create an injury each alone would be sufficient to CalNsessar, 133 S. Cat 2546
(Ginsburg, J., dissenting)lf a plaintiff is not required to establish but-for causation, she may
still be able to recover from a tortfeasor whose conduct was sufficient, but not necessary, to
cause her injury. See Restatement (Second) of Torts § 432920 where the standard is but-
for causation. Following Nassatra Title VII plaintiff alleging retaliationcannot establish

liability if her firing was prompted by both legitimate and illegitimate factorSassar, 133 S.

“Staubdid not resolve whether cat’s paw liability can be predicated on actions taken by
co-workers, rather than supervisors. See Staub, 131 S. Ct. at 11S$4aadk;v. Prof’| Transit
Mgmt., 744 F.3d 948, 956 (6th Cir. 2014). In the context of tenure decisions, “the line between
coworker and supervisor is significantly blurred,” Seoane II, 2012 WL 6138661, at *15, and
even a few colleagues can wield dispositive influemog a plaintiff’s academic future. See
Gutzwiller v. Fenik 860 F.2d 1317, 1327 (6th Cir. 1988). We assume in this opinion that cat’s
paw liability can sprig from the actions of Plaintiff’s colleagues in th€OP. Plaintiff’s claim
still fails.

>Plaintiff points to our nonprecedential decision in Bishop v. Ohio Department of
Rehabilitation and Correction$29 F. App’x 685 (6th Cir. 2013), and asserts that the proximate
cause standard applies to his cat’s paw theory. Bishop was decided less than three weeks after
Nassar, and as a result, the panel did not have the opportunity to fully consider the interplay
between Nassar and Staub.
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Ct. at 2546 (Ginsburg, J., dissentingPlaintiff’s claim will therefore fail if Alutto decided to
deny tenure based on factors untainted by retaliatory aniwsif Alutto’s decision was also
based on factors that were tainted by retaliati®o.long as the untainted factors were sufficient
to justify Alutto’s ultimate decision, the University will be entitled to summary judgment.

B. Plaintiff’s Dossier

Alutto made his decision to deny Plaintiff tenure based on significant portions of
Plaintiff’s dossier: the fourth-year reviewevaluating Plaintiff’s progress as a professor, the
internal and external review letters, Plaintiff’s January 5, 2009 letter pointing out the flaws in the
tenure review process, and the UPTC repBdr Plaintiff to prevail, he must establish a genuine
issue of fact that most, if not all, of these portions of his dossier were tainted. He cannot.

1. Fourth-year review

The record reveals that Plaintiff’s fourth-year review was not a vehicle for prohibited
retaliation. The fourth-year review was something of a mini-tenure review with a similar
number of stepsFor the first step, Dr. William Hayton, an Associate Dean at the COP, prepared
a letter summarizing Plaintiff’s teaching, scholarship, and servicédayton criticized the amount
and quality of Plainff’s scholarship, and noted that it was unclear if Plaintiff’s funding came
from peer-reviewed sources. Hayton recommended a positive fourth-year review, but noted that
“issues of significant concern require attention and should be resolved by the time of evaluation
for tenure.” (R. 38-8, Fourth-Year Review, at 1583.) Plaintiff does not accuse Hayton of
harboring a retaliatory animusimportant because Hayton’s critiques were echoed again and
again by internal and external reviewers of Plaintiff’s record.

With Hayton’s letter and letters from four outside reviewers in hand, the COP faculty

discussed and voted on Plaintiff’s record. Twelve faculty members voted for a positive review;
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eight voted no. Dr. James Dalton, the Chair of the Tenure Committee (and another person whom
Plaintiff has not accused of harboring a retaliatory animus), summarizéaiheg’s discussion
in a letter to Brueggemeier dated March 14, 200le letter noted that the faculty’s discussion
of Plaintiff had been mixed, and that even though the vote had been positive, several areas
required improvement before tenure review. Like Hayton, the faculty believed that Plaintiff
needed to publish more research in a clearly defined area of specialiZsdoriike Hayton, the
faculty believed that Plaintiff should work to obtain more funding from competitive funding
sources.

Finally, Brueggemeier wrote his own letter to the University Provost summarizing
Plaintiff’s achievements. Brueggemeier’s recommendations were essentially indistinguishable
from those of Hayton and the COP facultie recommended a positive fourth-year review
“with very clear expectations for critical improvements in teaching and research prior to the
tenure and promotion decision.” (Id. at 1573.) Brueggemeier parroted the suggestions for
Plaintiff’s future research and, like Hayton and the faculty, stressed the need to obtain funding
from competitive, peer-reviewed sources. However, unlike Hayton or the faculty, Brueggemeier
also urged that these sources of funding should be federal agencies. Plaintiff points out that
federal funding, which is considered the gold standard in the field, constitutes an unreasonable
expectation for a young professor. Indd@dintiff’s peers at the COP were not required to gain
federal funding at similar stages of their career.

But Plaintiff overstates matters when he attempts to cast Brueggemeier’s push for federal
funding as evidence of retaliation. Brueggemeier’s letter was almost entirely consistent with the
other evéuations that, combined, made up Plaintiff’s fourth-year review. Brueggemeier’s letter

also meshes with the numerous other reviews Plaintiff received during his time at the COP.
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Plaintiff’s research was repeatedly deemed either unsatisfactory or in need of improvement.

Only in his 2007 and 2008 reviews did Plaintiff receive “good/excellent” marks on his research.

There is no meaningful distinction betweBrueggemeier’s letter and the opinions of Hayton,

Dalton, the external reviewers, and the COP faculBjaintiff does not argue that Hayton,

Dalton, and many of the COP faculty members were attempting to retaliate against himl We fa

to see how Brueggemeier’s substantively identical letter could have been a vehicle for retaliation.
2. External review letters

Next, Plaintiff cannot show that the external review letters were products of retaliation.
For these letters to assist Plaintiff, he must show that nondecisionmakers at the COP selected
Plaintiff’s external reviewers with the intent that those reviewers would report negatively about
Plaintiff, perhaps because the external reviewers were biased against Plaintiff, or perhaps
because they were invariably scathing in their assessifastteers’ work. But there are simply
too many weak links in this causal chain.

Buerki and the other COP faculty members who had the responsibility of choosing
external reviewers selected fifteen scholars. Only seven responded, and most of them wrote
positivdy. In other words, Plaintiff’s colleagues only managed to select three negative
reviewers, at most, out of fifteerhardly circumstantial evidence of retaliatory inte®laintiff
asserts that the most negative external reviewers were personally biased against Plaintiff because
of their association with Plaiiff’s former colleague Dr. Craig Pedersen. But Plaintiff has not
produced any evidence, apart from his own speculation, that either the external reviewers were in
fact biased, or that the COP faculty that selected them knew of this hypothetical bias.
Furthermore, Plaintiff had the opportunity to select his own external reviewers, who presumably

would have had positive things to sallaintiff passed up the chance to help himself. Finally,
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Plaintiff contends that the selection of reviewers violated University rules, since Plaintiff was not
told who the reviewers were before they were selectdd Uhiversity’s rules did not require
this procedure; they only suggested it.

The most scathing external review letters did nothing more than parrot the scathing
reviews that Plaintiff had received internally from numerous sources over several years. Plaintiff
cannot point to substantive or procedural issues showing that the external letters were intended
by Plaintiff’s colleagues to ensure that he did not receive tenure in retaliation for protected
conduct.

3. Internal review letters

Nor can Plaintiff show that the internal letters from Buerki, Young, and Brueggemeier
were tainted by retaliatory animusBuerki’s October 10, 2008 letter simply summarized
Plaintiff’s accomplishments in teaching, scholarship, and service, plus the letters that had been
received from external reviewersThe letter also included opinions about Plaintiff from five
other faculty members, including one who collaborated extensively with Plaintiff. Plaintiff
cannot point to evideneeas opposed to speculatiersuggesting that these faculty members
were biased against himYoung’s letter is also bereft of retaliatory intent. Like the Buerki
letter, Young simply summarized the opinions of otheits Young’s case, the COP faculty at
the tenure meeting. Plaintiff argues that the retaliatory remarks Balkrishnan made during the
meeting tainted the proceedingsl therefore Young’s letter. But while Balkrishnan’s remarks
were indisputably retaliatory, Plaintiff has not proffered any evidence that they altered the vote
of a single faculty memberFinally, Brueggemeier’s December 17, 2008 letter does not reveal
retaliatory animus. Brueggemeier’s review of Plaintiff’s teaching and service was generally

positive, and his critiques of Plaintiff’s research mirrored those that had been levied against
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Plaintiff since his fourth-year reviewBrueggemeier concluded that Plaintiff’s funding had been
inadequate-not because the funding sources were not federal agencies, but because they were
not obviously peer-reviewed.

C. Retaliation Was Not a But-For Cause of Alutto’s Decision

After all of Plaintiff’s invective, he cannot show that any significant portion of his dossier
was tainted by retaliatory animusSince the factors that contributed to Alutto’s decision were
not retaliatory, it follows that Alutto’s decision was not caused by retaliatory actions of
nondecisionmakers. See Staub, 131 S. Ct. at 1193.

The bevy of collateral arguments Plaintiff presents cannot distract us from this
conclusion. Plaintiff first asserts numerous procedural errors in the tenure review process, but
even if the COP failed to follow some University procedures, these errors did not affect the
elements of the dossier that actually influenced Alutto’s decision. SecondPlaintiff’s argument
that Alutto was not qualified to review Plaintiff’s dossier is not well taken. The University has
adopted tenure procedures that apply universally to a broad spectrum of academic disciplines.
We will not pass judgment over the propriety of this system of academic review as a whole in
this single case.Third, the district court’s treatment of Plaintiff’s proffered expert does not
require reversal. Plaintiff does not argue that the district court made any error of law by
excluding admissible portis of the expert’s testimony. Plaintiff simply asserts that the district
court failed to properly consider the expert’s testimony. Even if Plaintiff’s contention were
correct, it is moot.See Ralph ex rel. Ralph v. Nagy, 950 F.2d 326, 329 (6th Cir. 199é&)have
fully considered the expert report and deposition. Neither supports reversing the district court’s

judgment.
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Finally, Plaintiff relies heavily on our opinion in Gutzwiller v. Fenik, 860 F.2d 1317 (6th
Cir. 1988), but this case does not ultimately support Plaintiff. The plaintiff in Gutzwiller was a
female professor of classics at the University of Cincinnati who was on the tenure track. See id.
at 1320. She received high marks on her teaching and committee work, and had a book accepted
for publication, lnt the plaintiff’s male superiors placed higher demands on her scholarly output.
See id. at 13221. When the plaintiff came up for tenure, her superiors rejected most of her
suggested external reviewers and selected some that the plaintiff explicitly warned against. See
id. at 1322. The department then voted to deny tenure. See id. a2332the dean, however,
noted that most of the evaluations of the plaintiff’s scholarship had been laudatory and voted to
approve tenure. See id. at 1323. The provost ultimately overruled the dean and denied tenure
after considering more evidence from the departme®ge id. The plaintiff sued numerous
members of the University, including individual members of the Classics Department who
considered her application. A jury found that two of the plaintiff’s supervisors in her department
had denied her tenure because of her sex. See id. at 1324. There was no evidence that these
superiors had required male professors to publish two books before receiving-teniaet, the
plaintiff had met or exceeded the number of publications of other professors who received
tenure. See id. at 1326. Most damning, one sijpersaimed that the plaintiff’s work was not
“rich enough or productive enough,” but “the evidence showed that he had not even read [the
plaintiff’s] manuscript at the time he informed her of th[e] additiestalirement.” 1d.

If Plaintiff’s claims for pre-2009 conduct were still viable, Gutzwiller would have
relevance. But Gutzwillelias nothing to say about applying the elements of a cat’s paw claim to
a tenure decisionPlaintiff points to the parallel between the supervisor in Gutzwiller, who did

not read the plaintiff’s research, and Alutto, who likewise did nab read Plaintiff’s articles. In
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Gutzwiller, this evidence was used to support the conclusion that the supervisor was motivated
by discrimination. Plaintiff has levied no such charge against Alutto. Since Plaintiff argues that
Alutto was simply a cat’s paw for the retaliation of others, Alutto’s own motivations are
irrelevant.

One teaching of Gutzwiller is relevant to this case. We stressed in Gutzwiller that a court
must not sit as a “super tenure committee.” Id. at 1326 (quotation marks omitted). Indeed,
“federal courts have traditionally eevary of interfering with academic tenure decisions.”

Ford v. Nicks, 866 F.2d 865, 875 (6th Cir. 1989). In order to stave off summary judgment, it is
not enough for Plaintiff to show that he should have received tenure. Plaintiff must create a
genuine issue of fact that retaliation was a fouteause of Alutto’s denial of tenure. The
University’s tenure procedures are lengthy, detailed, and stringent. They attempt to ensure that
invidious or petty motives of individual faculty members do not affecUtieersity’s ultimate

decision concerning the decades-long commitment it makes to tenured faculty. Conspiratorial
theories based on little more than speculation cannot save a claim from summary judgment. See
Mulhall v. Ashcroft, 287 F.3d 543, 552 (6th Cir. 2002plaintiff cannot show that such an
extensive conspiracy to deny him tenure existed.

1. TITLEVII RETALIATION: PLAINTIFF’SINTERNAL APPEAL

Finally, | turn to Plaintiff’s retaliation claim arising out of the FHC’s dismissal of
Plainiff’s internal appeal. The district court held that the denial of an internal appeal from an
adverse employment action was not a cognizable act of retaliation. See Seoane I, 2012 WL
6138661, at *1013. This legal conclusion, which we review de nosee Doe v. Salvation
Army in the U.S., 531 F.3d 355, 357 (6th Cir. 2008), is wrong.

The antiretaliation provision of Title VII prohibits “discriminat[ing]” against an

employee because that employee had engaged in protected conduct. 42 U.S.C. § 2080e-3(a).
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employer’s action constitutes discrimination if “a reasonable employee would have found the
challenged action materially adverse, which in this context means it well might have dissuaded a
reasonable worker from making or supporting a charge of oliscition.” Burlington N. &

Santa Fe Ry. Co. v. White, 548 U.S. 53, 68 (2006) (quotation marks omiéted) result of this
standard,“a plaintiff’s burden of establishing a materially adverse employment action is less
onerous in the retaliation context than in the anti-discrimination contékthael v. Caterpillar

Fin. Servs. Corp., 496 F.3d 584, 5956 (6th Cir. 2007).

Once Alutto denied Plaintiff’s application for tenure, Plaintiff sought relief through the
University’s internal appeals process. Plaintiff claims that he was denied the benefit of these
procedures-that the FHC dismissed his appeal in retaliation for Plaintiff’s internal complaint
and federal lawsuit. In effect, Plaintiff argues that the FHC failed to investigate his complaint
concerning the tenure review process, which Plaintiff claimed was rife with discriminatory and
retaliatory animus. A failure to investigate a complaint can constitute an act of retaliation under
some circumstancesfor example, “if the failure is in retaliation for some separate, protected act
by the plaintiff;” apart from the uninvestigated complaint itseéfincher v. Depository Trust &
Clearing Corp., 604 F.3d 712, 722 (2d Cir. 2010) (citing Rochon v. Gonzales, 438 F.3d 1211,
1219-20 (D.C. Cir. 2006) Plaintiff has alleged precisely this type of conduct. Plaintiff asserts
that the FHC failed to investigate his complaint in retaliation foinRffls earlier complaints
about national-origin discrimination, plus the 2007 lawsBitintiff’s accusation is of particular
note since we have stressed the importance of internal appeal processes in the context of
university tenure decisions. See Dobbs-Weinstein v. Vanderbilt Univ., 185 F.3d 542, 545 (6th
Cir. 1999), overruled in part by White v. Burlington N. & Santa Fe Ry. Co., 364183{6th

Cir. 2004) (en banc). At the very least, there is a factual dispute as to whether a tainted internal

-25-



Case: 13-3029 Document: 62-1 Filed: 08/18/2014 Page: 26
No. 13-3029

appeal“well might have dissuaded a reasonable worker from making or supporting a charge of
discrimination.” Burlington N., 548 U.Sat 68 (quotation marks omitted).

The district court reached the opposite conclusion based on its finding that the FHC did
not have the power to order a new tenure procddse court believed this to be the relevant
guestion based on two cases that addressed claims arising out of grievance procedures following
denial of tenure: Delaware State College v. Ricks, 449 U.S. 250 (1980), and Lever v.
Northwestern University, 979 F.2d 552 (7th Cir. 1992he grievance procedures in these cases
were purely remedial, and therefore their outcomes were not independently cognizable
employment actions. See Ricks, 449 U.S. at 261; Lever, 979 F.2d at 556. But neither of these
cases involved a claim for Title VII retaliation, and neither employed the standard from
Burlington Northern. See Ricks, 449 U.S. at 254; Lever, 979 F.2d at 5B% ‘materially
adverse action” element of a Title VIl retaliation claim is substantially different from the
‘adverse employment action’ element of a Title VII race discrimination claiinLaster v. City of
Kalamazoo, 746 F.3d 714, 719 (6th Cir. 201#)s a result, neither Ricks nor Lever provides
relevant instruction for this case.

Despite the districicourt’s legal error, a majority of this panel affirms the court’s
judgment on the basis that Plaintiff failed to develop this argument either below or on appeal.
While | disagree with this assertiohnote that the panel’s majority raises no dispute with the
lead opinion’s legal analysis of Plaintiff’s claim. Contrary to the majority’s holding on this
issue, | would therefore remand to allow the district court to consider whether the retaliatory acts

of nondecisionmakers were a Hut-cause of the FHC’s denial of Plaintiff’s internal appeal.
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CONCLUSION
For the reasons set forth above and in the opinion that follows,RF€RM the district

court in full.
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Alice M. Batchelder, Circuit Judge, concurringin part and dissenting in part.

| concurin this opinion except for the Sectidh of the DISCUSSION section.The
Appellant devotes one brief and cursory paragraph of his boiefhat he referredo in his
factual statemerds”ltem 8" of OSU's allegedly discriminatory actionde repeats this cursory
paragraph, without any further development or argumerttjs reply brief. It is this item that
the majority opinion frameaswhether the denial aninternal appeal can be a cognizadteof
retaliation under the new standard éoradverse material action Burlington Northern & Santa
Fe Railway Co. v. White, 548 U.S. 53 (2006But Appellant never developed this argumient
the district court or on appeal, and thus waived. As we have repeatedly held[w]e require
partiesto develop their argument® a non-perfunctory manneat the risk of having them
deemedwaived.” United States v. Catlan, 499 F.3d 604, 606 (6th Cir. 200/)e have
cautioned thatTiJssues advertedto in a perfunctory manner, unaccompanmdsomeeffort at
developed argumentation, are deemedved,” and that“[i]t is not sufficient for a partyo
mention a possible argumeint the most skeletal way, leaving the cotart . . put flesh on its
bones.” McPherson v. Kelsey, 125 F.3d 989, 996 (6th Cir. 1997) (internal quotations and
citation omitted); see also United States v. Robinson, 390 F.3d 853, 885-86 (6th Cir. 2004);
United States v. Reed, 167 F.3d 984, 993 (6th Cir. 1999) (invoking thisordiseman issue

forfeited). In my view, becaus@ppellant failedto raise and develop the issue, he has waived
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